Offering Memorandum: Part II of Offering Document (Exhibit A to Form C)

WorthPoint Corporation
5 Concourse Parkway NE, Suite 2900
Atlanta, GA 30328
https://www.worthpoint.com/

Up to $4,999,992.00 in Series A-2 Preferred Stock at $12.00
Minimum Target Amount: $15,000.00

A crowdfunding investment involves risk. You should not invest any funds in this offering unless
you can afford to lose your entire investment.

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the issuer
and the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved. These securities have not
been recommended or approved by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory
authority. Furthermore, these authorities have not passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this
document.

The U.5. Securities and Exchange Commission does not pass upon the merits of any securities
offered or the terms of the offering, nor does it pass upon the accuracy or completeness of any
offering document or literature.

These securities are offered under an exemption from registration; however, the U.5. Securities
and Exchange Commission has not made an independent determination that these securities are
exempt from registration.



Company:

Company: WorthPoint Corporation

Address: 5 Concourse Parkway NE, Suite 2900, Atlanta, GA 30328
State of Incorporation: DE

Date Incorporated: January 16, 2007

Terms:

Equity

Offering Minimum: $15,000.00 | 1,250 shares of Series A-2 Preferred Stock
Offering Maximum: $4,999,992.00 | 416,666 shares of Series A-2 Preferred Stock
Type of Security Offered: Series A-2 Preferred Stock

Purchase Price of Security Offered: $12.00

Minimum Investment Amount (per investor): $492.00

*Maximum Number of Shares Offered subject to adjustment for bonus shares. See Bonus info
below.

Investment Incentives and Bonuses®
Time-Based Perks
Friends and Family
Invest within the first 72 hours and receive 15% bonus shares.
Super Early Bird
Invest within the first week and receive 10% bonus shares.
Early Bird Bonus
Invest within the first two weeks and receive 5% bonus shares.

Volume-Based Perks

Tier 1 | $500+

Invest $500+ and receive a free annual subscription for 1 YR, Price Guide Premium. (value
$259.99)

Tier 2 | $1,000+

Invest 51,000+ and receive a free annual subscription for 1 YR, All Access (value $449.99)
Tier 3 | $5,000+

Invest $5,000+ and receive a free annual subscription for 5 YRS, All Access (value $2,249.95)
Tier 4 | $10,000+

Invest $10,000+ and receive a free annual subscription for 10 YRS, All Access (value $4,499,99) +
5% bonus shares.

Tier 5 | $25,000+



Invest $25,000+ and receive a free annual subscription for 25 YRS, All Access (value $11,249.75) +
10% bonus shares.

Tier 6 | $50,000+
Invest $50,000+ and receive All Access for Legacy/Forever + 15% bonus shares.

*In order to receive perks from an investment, one must submit a singfe investment in the same
offering that meets the minimum perk requirement. Bonus shares from perks will not be granted
if an investor submits multiple investments that, when combined, meet the perk requirement. All
perks occur when the offering is completed.

The 10% StartEneine O B

WorthPoint Corporation will offer 10% additional bonus shares for all investments that are
committed by investors that are eligible for the StartEngine Crowdfunding Inc. OWNer's bonus.

This means eligible StartEngine shareholders will receive a 10% bonus for any shares they
purchase in this offering. For example, if you buy 100 shares of Series A-2 Preferred Stock at
$12.00 / share, you will receive 110 shares of Series A-2 Preferred Stock, meaning yvou'll own 110
shares for $1,200. Fractional shares will not be distributed and share bonuses will be determined
by rounding down to the nearest whole share.

This 10% Bonus is only valid during the investor’s eligibility period. Investors eligible for this
bonus will also have priority if they are on a waitlist to invest and the company surpasses its
maximum funding goal. They will have the first opportunity to invest should room in the offering
become available if prior investments are canceled or fail.

Investors will receive the highest single bonus they are eligible for among the bonuses based on
the amount invested and time of offering elapsed (if any). Eligible investors will also receive the
Owner’s Bonus in addition to the aforementioned bonus.

The Company and its Business

Company Overview
Company Overview

We believe WorthPoint Corporation ("WorthPoint™ or "WP" or the "Company”) is one of the
largest sources of pricing data at the heart of a booming market that’s seeing an original iPhone
sell for $63,000 and a Mickey Mantle baseball card bring $13 million. Businesses around the world
use our 715 million values of vintage or antique items to make a profit, and collectors use us to
learn how to buy and sell at the right price. We're like a Bloomberg of art, antiques, collectibles
and household items with market news, price data, research material, and analysis. WorthPoint
also helps people preserve family histories and heirlooms and keep track of the values of personal
items for insurance purposes before they are destroyed in a fire or a natural disaster. With more
than $68 trillion dollars moving from one generation to the next, people need to learn how to
value and sell antiques.

WorthPoint is believed to be the world’s largest pricing source to value art, antiques, and
collectibles, helping subscribers capitalize on a $360 billion marketplace amid the $68 trillion
generational wealth transfer. WorthPoint's suite of research and data tools provides market
pricing transparency, allowing collectors and resellers to buy and sell more efficiently.

Source for iPhone sale:



httpswww.wwnvtv.comy/20235/02/25/0riginal-2007-iphone-sells-more-than-63000/

Source for Mickey Mantle baseball card:
https:/www.nytimes.com/2022/08/28/us/mickey-mantie-card-auction-baseball. htm/

Source for 2020 collectibles market:

https:www. prnewswire.comyin/news-releases/collectibles-market-is-expected-to-display-a-
steady-growth-of-around-4-due-to-the-growing-online-sale-of-antiques-and-collectibles-
globally--univdatos-market-insights-501634688.html

Source for $68 trillion:

https.www.cnbe.com/2022/10/1 7/how-to-navigate-the-great-wealth-transfer-according-to-

top-

advisors.html#:~text=Babyf20boomers 20arefa 20set S 2000, also %6 20reducingfe 20the 55 20tax B 20bite.

Business Model

We offer subscriptions to access the data in three of our databases. We have nearly 35,000
customers—380% of which pay us approximately $28 a month and 20% that pay between $199.00
and $429.99 a year.

Current Pending Litigation

The Company is currently involved in a pending lawsuit related to a copyright infringement
claim that was filed by an Individual in 2018 and WorthPoint was added for the first time in 2020.
As we believe the claims are frivolous, we are disputing the claims and expect the discovery
process to be completed in Q2 of 2023. We are working with counsel and believe there are weak
grounds for this party to pose any serious litigation risk to the Company. We believe the
complaint is without merit and are working towards filing for summary judgment in favor of the
Company.

Competitors and Industry
Competitors

Our closest competitors are service platforms for real-time auction bidding that also make
historical pricing data available to the public. These include Terapeak, eBay's research product,
LiveAuctioneers, and Invaluable. Niche category pricing data has emerged with ArtNet for fine
art, WatchCharts for timepieces, and Liv-Ex for fine wine, however, such databases are composed
of retail sales, not only fair market prices. Kovel's, a family-owned business operating for 70
years, offers information, research, and trends on antiques and collectibles, and a valuation
database of about 1 million prices from auction houses, not eBay.

Kovel’s: https.//www.kovels.com/
Industry

Trading in art, antiques, and collectibles has become a digital marketplace. For the last 30 years,
from the launch of eBay in 1995 through the depths of the COVID-19 pandemic, the collectibles
market has seen exponential growth as many sought out nostalgia or pursued rare discoveries.
With the arrival of cryptocurrency, many traditional companies have successfully introduced
digital collectibles using blockchain technology. Collectors and profit seekers are driving prices
paid for rare items to record highs: In August of 2022, a 1952 Topps Mickey Mantle baseball card
brought a record $12.6 million. In May of 2022, Andy Warhol’s 1964 silkscreen portrait of Marilyn
Monroe made headlines when it sold for a record-setting $195 million. From $6 million Pokémon



cards to $250,000 Star Wars action figures, market demand for art and collectibles show no sign
of slowing.

Once guided by classified ads in weekly trade newspapers and annual price guidebooks,
marketplaces, and collectors demand timely information and digital resources to guide buying
and selling. Just as important, with more than $68 trillion dollars moving from one generation to
the next, people need to learn how to value and sell antiques as well as other items being passed
to the next generation. Financial asset managers and advisors have reported the first hurdle in
managing “the great wealth transfer” is often bringing generations together to discuss their
family legacy, urging transparency on the value of total assets.

According to a report published in September 2022 by UnivDatos Markets Insights, the
collectibles market was valued at around $360 billion in 2020 and is expected to grow at a
compound annual growth rate of around 4 percent from 2022-2028. Trends show annual growth
across coins and stamps, rare books, comic books and comic art, fine art, and rare toys, among
others. With the uptick in inflation, the interest in real assets is also increasing.

Source for 2020 collectibles market:
https./www.prnewswire.comyin/news-releases/collectibles-market-is-expected-to-display-a-
steady-growth-of-around-4-due-to-the-growing-online-sale-of-antiques-and-collectibles-
globally--univdatos-market-insights-5016346588.html

Source for Mickey Mantle baseball card:
https:www.nytimes.com/2022/08/28/us/mickey-mantie-card-auction-baseball.html

Source for $68 trillion:

https:www.cnbe.com/2022/10/1 7/how-to-navigate-the-great-wealth-transfer-according - to-

fop-

advisors.html#:~text=Babyf%20boomers%20arefa 20set 52000, also % 20reducingZe 20the 5 20tax % 20bite.

Source for Marilyn Monroe:
https:www.nytimes.com/ /20220509 arts design/warhol-auction-marilyn-
monroe.htmié:~ text=In%20underf20fourf% 20minutes % 200f, work % 200f% 20art % 20at % 20auction.

Source for $6M Pokemon:
https:kotaku.com/dogan-pauls-latest-stunt-paving-6-million-for-rare-pi-18487435653

Sources for Star Wars:
https:www.kozzradio.com/showsballard/nerd-alert-an-old-boba-fett-action-figure-could-sell-
for-2500007

https:www.pennlive.com/entertainment/2019/11/star-wars-toy-from-1979-sold-for-world-
record-price-by-central-pa-auction-house.html

Current Stage and Roadmap

Current Stage

WorthPoint is currently in the market and generating revenue. We make markets more efficient
by providing information to buyers and sellers through four unique databases that allow
subscribers to research, identify and value an item they want to sell, buy or insure. The four
databases are:

- The Dictionary of 8,000 articles that is one of the industry’s leading reference sources,

- A visual database of more than 227,000 marks to identify and authenticate precious objects that



is most likely the largest such resource that exists,

- A library of more than 18,000- volumes of searchable books and other reference guides that is
the world’s most comprehensive collection of which we are aware.

- And lastly, the Price Guide that has values of over 700 million items sold over the past 15 vears
We are in the midst of leveraging these databases in a number of ways.

First, we are focusing on selling subscriptions with access to more than one database -
transitioning from selling primarily just the Price Guide to offering access to multiple databases.
The goal of offering an integrated subscription is to increase the average revenue per user as well
as lengthen the lifetime value by providing more tools for businesses. As an example of this
focus, in December 2022, we upgraded our app offering in both the Apple Store and Google Play
to include an app integrating both the Price Guide and MARKS databases.

Second, we are leveraging the more than 700 million auction price data points reported in our
Price Guide to create the WorthPoint Indices, which to our knowledge is the industry’s first
index-linked investment product to statistically measure price trends across a broad spectrum of
categories.

Third, a cornerstone product currently in development and available to subscribers is the
WorthPoint Vault, a user-generated digital database to organize valuables, inventory, and
collections to help subscribers track values over time. Not only is the WorthPoint Vault a tool to
price and sell, but it can also be used to archive items of emotional or historical significance
documented through photographs, family histories, or video. Perhaps of larger interest, the Vault
can be used to track the values of items for insurance purposes. By having a digital database,
subscribers can make sure that their items are properly insured in case the items are lost to a
natural disaster, theft, or other unfortunate loss.

Finally, we are in early discussions to offer an enterprise solution for businesses that would like
to have multiple-seat licenses. We are currently talking with companies interested in anywhere
from 5 to 30 seats. We believe the interest expressed by these businesses is due to the
comprehensive nature of our databases.

Future Roadmap

The Company will be focused on rolling out new products to meet consumer needs including
WorthPoint Indices (expected Q3 2023), what we believe is the industry’s first index-linked
investment product to statistically measure price trends, the WorthPoint Vault (expected Q4
2023), a user-generated digital database to organize valuables, inventory, and collections for
insurance, and Visual Search of 1.3 billion images available through a mobile app (expected Q2
2023).

The Team

Officers and Directors

Name: William Hermann Seippel
William Hermann Seippel's current primary role is with the Issuer,
Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

# Position: Founder and CEQ



Dates of Service: April, 2007 - Present
Responsibilities: Will is the leader as CEO and largest shareholder. Will receives an annual
salary of $330,000,

e Position: Director
Dates of Service: April, 2007 - Present
Responsibilities: Advise the company

Name: William Neal McAtee
William Neal McAtee's current primary role is with the Issuer.

Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

¢ Position: CFO
Dates of Service: June, 2009 - Present
Responsibilities: Neal is responsible for managing the financial actions of the Company and
receives an annual salary of $250,000.

e Position: Director
Dates of Service: June, 2009 - Present
Responsibilities: Advise the company

Name: Kathleen Guzman

Kathleen Guzman’s current primary role is with Self-Employeed. Kathleen Guzman currently
services (0.5 hours per week in their role with the Issuer.

Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

* Position: Board Member
Dates of Service: January, 2022 - Present

Responsibilities: Kathleen is a member of the board. She receives an annual salary of
$35,000.

Other business experience in the past three years:

¢ Employer: Self-Employeed
Title: Art Appraiser
Dates of Service: January, 2022 - Present
Responsibilities: Kathleen appraises art.

Other business experience in the past three years:

* Employer: Heritage Auctions
Title: Managing Director
Dates of Service: September, 2008 - December, 2021
Responsibilities: Kathleen managed Heritage Auction's New York City office.

Name: James Sturgill



James Sturgill 's current primary role is with Hanover Foods Corporation. James Sturgill currently
services 15 hours per week in their role with the Issuer.

Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

# Position: Board Member
Dates of Service: February, 2023 - Present
Responsibilities: [im's responsibilities are to the CEO and the Board. Jim does not receive
compensation.

Other business experience in the past three years:

¢ Employer: Hanover Foods Corporation
Title: Director, 401-K Trustee, member of Finance Committee
Dates of Service: November, 1995 - Present
Responsibilities: Act on all business that come before the Board.

Name: Michael Joseph Wharton

Michael Joseph Wharton's current primary role is with McVean Trading & Investments, LLC.
Michael Joseph Wharton currently services 0.5 hours per week in their role with the Issuer.

Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

o Position: Board Member
Dates of Service: May, 2012 - Present
Responsibilities: Michael serves on the board of Directors and is an investor. Michael does
not receive compensation.

Other business experience in the past three years:

e Employer: McVean Trading & Investments, LLC
Title: Chairman
Dates of Service: June, 1986 - Present
Responsibilities: Chairman

Name: Antoine S Lyseight
Antoine § Lyseight's current primary role is with the Issuer.
Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

e Position: Chief Technology Officer
Dates of Service: September, 2012 - Present
Responsibilities: Reporting to the Founder and CEOQ, responsible for leading and managing
WorthPoint's IT department including data engineering, product management, product
development, internal and external facing development groups, DevOps (AWS),

architecture, and mobile development. Antoine receives an annual compensation of
$250,000.

Name: Peter Dabbs Schleider



Peter Dabbs Schleider's current primary role is with the Issuer.
Positions and offices currently held with the issuer:

* Position: Director
Dates of Service: May, 2006 - Present
Responsibilities: Peter is a director with a long history of being with the Company. Peter
does not receive a compensation.

Risk Factors

The SEC requires the company to identify risks that are specific to its business and its financial
condition. The company is still subject to all the same risks that all companies in its business,
and all companies in the economy, are exposed to. These include risks relating to economic
downturns, political and economic events and technological developments (such as hacking and
the ability to prevent hacking). Additionally, early-stage companies are inherently more risky
than more developed companies. You should consider general risks as well as specific risks when
deciding whether to invest.

These are the risks that relate to the Company:

Uncertain Risk

An investment in the Company (also referred to as “we”, “us”, “our”, or "Company”) involves a
high degree of risk and should only be considered by those who can afford the loss of their entire
investment. Furthermore, the purchase of any of the Series A-2 Preferred Stock should only be
undertaken by persons whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to indefinitely
retain an illiquid investment. Each investor in the Company should consider all of the
information provided to such potential investor regarding the Company as well as the following
risk factors, in addition to the other information listed in the Company’s Form C. The following
risk factors are not intended, and shall not be deemed to be, a complete description of the
commercial and other risks inherent in the investment in the Company.

F¥

Our business projections are only projections

There can be no assurance that the Company will meet our projections. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to find sufficient demand for our product, that people
think it's a better option than a competing product, or that we will able to provide the service at
a level that allows the Company to make a profit and still attract business.

Any valuation at this stage is difficult to assess

The valuation for the offering was established by the Company. Unlike listed companies that are
valued publicly through market-driven stock prices, the valuation of private companies is
difficult to assess and you may risk overpaying for your investment.

The transferability of the Securities you are buying is limited

Any Series A-2 Preferred Stock purchased through this crowdfunding campaign is subject to SEC
limitations of transfer. This means that the stock that you purchase cannot be resold for a period
of one year. The exception to this rule is if you are transferring the stock back to the Company, to
an “accredited investor,” as part of an offering registered with the Commission, to a member of
your family, trust created for the benefit of your family, or in connection with vour death or
divorce.

Your investment could be illiquid for a long time
You should be prepared to hold this investment for several years or longer. For the 12 months



following your investment, there will be restrictions on how you can resell the securities you
receive, More importantly, there is no established market for these securities and there may never
be one. As a result, if you decide to sell these securities in the future, you may not be able to find
a buyer. The Company may be acquired by an existing player in the data and financial analytics
services industry. However, that may never happen or it may happen at a price that results in vou
losing money on this investment.

Terms of subsequent financings may adversely impact your investment

We will likely need to engage in common equity, debt, or preferred stock financings in the future,
which may reduce the value of your investment in the Series A-2 Preferred Stock. Interest on debt
securities could increase costs and negatively impact operating results. Preferred stock could be
issued in series from time to time with such designation, rights, preferences, and limitations as
needed to raise capital. The terms of preferred stock could be more advantageous to those
investors than to the holders of Common Stock. In addition, if we need to raise more equity
capital from the sale of Preferred Stock, institutional or other investors may negotiate terms that
are likely to be more favorable than the terms of your investment, and possibly a lower purchase
price per share.

Management Discretion as to Use of Proceeds

Our success will be substantially dependent upon the discretion and judgment of our
management team with respect to the application and allocation of the proceeds of this Offering.
The use of proceeds described below is an estimate based on our current business plan. We,
however, may find it necessary or advisable to re-allocate portions of the net proceeds reserved
for one category to another, and we will have broad discretion in doing so.

Projections: Forward Looking Information

Any projections or forward looking statements regarding our anticipated financial or operational
performance are hypothetical and are based on management's best estimate of the probable
results of our operations and will not have been reviewed by our independent accountants. These
projections will be based on assumptions which management believes are reasonable. Some
assumptions invariably will not materialize due to unanticipated events and circumstances
beyond management's control. Therefore, actual results of operations will vary from such
projections, and such variances may be material. Any projected results cannot be guaranteed.

The amount raised in this offering may include investments from company insiders or immediate
family members

Officers, directors, executives, and existing owners with a controlling stake in the company (or
their immediate family members) may make investments in this offering. Any such investments
will be included in the raised amount reflected on the campaign page.

Minority Holder; Securities with Voting Rights

The Series A-2 Preferred Stock that an investor is buying has voting rights attached to them.
However, yvou will be part of the minority shareholders of the Company and therefore will have a
limited ability to influence management's decisions on how to run the business. You are trusting
in management discretion in making good business decisions that will grow yvour investments.
Furthermore, in the event of a liquidation of our company, you will only be paid out if there is
any cash remaining after all of the creditors of our company have been paid out.

You are trusting that management will make the best decision for the company

You are trusting in management discretion. You are buying securities as a minority holder, and
therefore must trust the management of the Company to make good business decisions that grow
your investment.

This offering involves “rolling closings, ” which may mean that earlier investors may not have the



benefit of information that later investors have.

Once we meet our target amount for this offering, we may request that StartEngine instruct the
escrow agent to disburse offering funds to us. At that point, investors whose subscription
agreements have been accepted will become our investors. All early-stage companies are subject
to a number of risks and uncertainties, and it is not uncommon for material changes to be made
to the offering terms, or to companies’ businesses, plans or prospects, sometimes on short

notice. When such changes happen during the course of an offering, we must file an amended to
our Form C with the SEC, and investors whose subscriptions have not vet been accepted will have
the right to withdraw their subscriptions and get their money back. Investors whose subscriptions
have already been accepted, however, will already be our investors and will have no such right.

Our new product could fail to achieve the sales projections we expected

Our growth projections are based on an assumption that with an increased advertising and
marketing budget our products will be able to gain more traction in the marketplace. If our
products fail to achieve an increase in sales, this could materially and adversely impact the value
of your investment.

We face significant market competition

We will compete with larger, established companies who currently have products on the market
and/or various respective product development programs. They may have much better financial
means and marketing/sales and human resources than us. They may succeed in developing and
marketing competing equivalent products earlier than us, or superior products than those
developed by us. There can be no assurance that competitors will render our technology or
products obsolete or that the products developed by us will be preferred to anv existing or newly
developed technologies. It should further be assumed that competition will intensify.

Our trademarks, copyrights and other intellectual property could be unenforceable or ineffective
Intellectual property is a complex field of law in which few things are certain. It is possible that
competitors will be able to design around our intellectual property, find prior art to invalidate it,
or render the patents unenforceable through some other mechanism. If competitors are able to
bypass our trademark and copyright protection without obtaining a sublicense, it is likely that
the Company’s value could be adversely impacted. This could also impair the Company’s ability
to compete in the marketplace.

The loss of one or more of our key personnel, or our failure to attract and retain other highly
qualified personnel in the future, could harm our business

To be successtul, the Company requires capable people to run its day to day operations. As the
Company grows, it will need to attract and hire additional employees in sales, marketing, design,
development, operations, finance, legal, human resources and other areas. Depending on the
economic environment and the Company’s performance, we may not be able to locate or attract
qualified individuals for such positions when we need them. We may also make hiring mistakes,
which can be costly in terms of resources spent in recruiting, hiring and investing in the incorrect
individual and in the time delay in locating the right employee fit. If we are unable to attract, hire
and retain the right talent or make too many hiring mistakes, it is likely our business will suffer
from not having the right employees in the right positions at the right time. This would likely
adversely impact the value of your investment.

The Company is vulnerable to hackers and cyber-attacks

As an internet-based business, we may be vulnerable to hackers who may access the data of our
investors and the issuer companies that utilize our platform. Further, any significant disruption
in service on WorthPoint or in its computer systems could reduce the attractiveness of the
platform and result in a loss of investors and companies interested in using our platform. Further,
we rely on a third-party technology provider to provide some of our back-up technology. Any



disruptions of services or cyber-attacks either on our technology provider or on WorthPoint could
harm our reputation and materially negatively impact our financial condition and business.

Should we not have enough capital as needed, we could be reguired to raise more capital.
Although we believe the proceeds of this offering along with the funds on hand are enough to
sustain us until we are cash flow positive, it is a difficult environment for obtaining credit on
favorable terms. If we cannot obtain credit when we need it, we could be forced to raise
additional equity capital, modify our growth plans, or take some other action. [ssuing more
equity may require bringing on additional investors. Securing these additional investors could
require pricing our equity below its current price. If so, your investment could lose value as a
result of this additional dilution. In addition, even if the equity is not priced lower, your
ownership percentage would be decreased with the addition of more investors. If we are unable
to find additional investors willing to provide capital, then it is possible that we will choose to
cease our sales activity. In that case, the only asset remaining to generate a return on your
investment could be our intellectual property. Even if we are not forced to cease our sales
activity, the unavailability of credit could result in the Company performing below expectations,
which could adversely impact the value of yvour investment.

We are reliant on Search Engines for traffic to our site

Although we are an established company, we rely largely on free organic search results from
internet search engines. The results are based on algorithms that rely on indexing of our website.
We believe our Search Engine Optimization (SEQ) practices to be such that we are viewed
favorably by the search engines. However, the details of the algorithms used to direct traffic to
our website are unknown. Should the criteria of the algorithms change, it could have an adverse
impact on traffic to our website and negatively impact the number of new signups for our
subscription products.

We rely on third parties to provide data essential to the success of our business

We rely on third parties that we have agreements with to provide data and information essential
to the business. It is possible that some of these third parties will fail to perform their services or
will perform them in an unacceptable manner. It is possible that we will experience delays,
defects, errors, or other problems with their work that will materially impact our operations and
we may have little or no recourse to recover damages for these losses. A disruption in supplying
this data could affect our business. We also have sources from which we acquire data that we rely
on our current legal opinion and guidance, included but not limited, to case law for permission to
use. As a result, your investment could be adversely impacted by our reliance on third parties and
their performance as well as any changes in the case law on the use and/or acquisition of the data.

The Convertible Promissory Notes will convert into the same shares as this offering

Should the proceeds of the offering equal or exceed the face value of the Convertible Promissory
MNotes recently issued to the Founder, the Note will convert into shares of the Series A-2 Preferred
at a price similar to the best available under the terms of this offering. Under certain
circumstances, part of the Note may convert at terms more favorable than available under the
offering.

The Company is currently involved in pending civil litigation

The Company is currently involved in a pending lawsuit related to copyright infringement claims
that were filed by an Individual in 2018 against a third-party, but the Company was added to the
lawsuit in 2020 by the Individual. The Company is working with counsel and is disputing the
claims and expects the discovery process to be completed in Q2 of 2023, at which point it plans to
file for summary judgment. Although the Company believes there are weak grounds for the
claims alleged against it and the lawsuit does not pose serious litigation risk to the Company or
its officers, there is some degree of risk in investing in a company that has pending litigation



against it.

CFTC Sanctions for Director

In 2017, Michael Wharton (Board Member) was named in sanctions against his investment firm,
McVean Trading & Investments, LLC by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC).
Mr. Wharton settled with the commission without admitting or denying any of the allegations of
the Commission’s findings.

Risk related to compliance with all covenants of its Loan Facility.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with all covenants of it Loan Facility.
As of the end of January 31, 2023, the Company was not in compliance with 2 covenants. The
Company has been in discussions with its lender and believes it is close to an agreement to
amend the terms of the Facility to be in compliance with its covenants, or will obtain a waiver.
The Company believes that with the March 29, 2023, investment by its Founder and CEO, its
current cost structure, and financial projections, the Company will be in compliance with the
amended terms, or in compliance under its original loan facility by vearend 2023 without closing
the Reg CF offering. With a successful offering, the Company will be back in compliance with its
original loan facility agreement.

We have existing trademarks, copyrights, and other valuable intellectual property that we might
not be able to protect properly

One of the Company’s most valuable assets is its intellectual property. The Company owns over
20 trademarks (domestic and international), has numerous copyrights (not all registered),
Internet domain names, and trade secrets. We believe one of the most valuable components of
the Company is our intellectual property portfolio. Due to the value, competitors may
misappropriate or violate the rights owned by the Company. The Company intends to continue to
protect its intellectual property portfolio from such violations. It is important to note that
unforeseeable costs associated with such practices may invade the capital of the Company.



Ownership and Capital Structure; Rights of the Securities

Ownership
The following table sets forth information regarding beneficial ownership of the company’s
holders of 20% or more of any class of voting securities as of the date of this Offering Statement

filing.

Stockholder Name |Numbe1' of Securities Owned| Type of Security Owned |Percentage
William H. SEippEIIE‘?E,{JH Common Stock

William H. Seippel|92,774 Series A Preferred Stock  [38.46%
William H. Seippel|385,106 Series A-1 Preferred Stock

The Company's Securities

The Company has authorized Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock, Series A-1 Preferred
Stock, Series A-2 Preferred Stock, and Convertible Note. As part of the Regulation Crowdfunding
raise, the Company will be offering up to 416,666 of Series A-2 Preferred Stock.

Common Stock

The amount of security authorized is 13,100,000 with a total of 2,239,867 outstanding.
Voting Rights

One vote per share. See Other Material Rights below for further information.
Material Rights

The total amount outstanding includes 151,725 shares to be issued pursuant to outstanding
warrants.

The total amount outstanding also includes 24,181 shares to be issued pursuant to stock options,
reserved but unissued.

The total amount outstanding also includes 409, 100 shares to be issued pursuant to stock options
issued.

General Voting Rights. The holders of each share of Common Stock, together with the holders of
Preferred Stock, shall have the right to vote as a single class, provided that except as otherwise
required by law, holders of Common Stock, as such, shall not be entitled to vote on any
amendment to (or waiver of any provision of) this Certificate that relates solely to the terms of
the Preferred Stock.

Series A Preferred Stock
The amount of security authorized is 384,550 with a total of 294,852 outstanding.
Voting Rights

One vote for each share of Common Stock into which such holder’s shares of Preferred Stock can
be converted. See Other Material Rights below.

Material Rights

General Voting Rights. The holder of each share of each class of the Preferred Stock shall have




the right to one (1) vote for each share of Common Stock into which such holder’s shares of
Preferred Stock could then be converted, with full voting rights and powers equal to the voting
rights and powers of the holders of Common Stock

Liguidation Preference - the holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive prior
and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets of the Corporation to the holders of
Common Stock or any other security ranking junior in priority to the Preferred Stock by reason of
their ownership thereof, an amount for each share of Series A Preferred Stock then held by them
equal to the Original Purchase Price for such Series A Preferred Stock, plus an amount equal to
any declared but unpaid dividends.

Conversion - The Series A Preferred has the right to convert 1 to 1 in to a share of common

Dividends- Although eligilble for dividends, there are currently no dividends declared.

Participation Rights - In the case of a liquidity event, once the preference has been paid, the
Series A can participate in the amount to be distributed to the common as if the shares were
converted 1 to 1. The holders do not have to convert to receive the participation portion.

Series A-1 Preferred Stock
The amount of security authorized is 6,056,142 with a total of 1,825,820 outstanding.
Voting Rights

One vote for each share of Common Stock into which such holder’s shares of Preferred Stock can
be converted. See Other Material Rights below.

Material Rights

For further information on the material rights of this class of securities, please see the Company's
Sth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, attached to the Offering Memorandum
as Exhibit F.

General Voting Rights. The holder of each share of each class of the Preferred Stock shall have
the right to one (1) vote for each share of Common Stock into which such holder’s shares of
Preferred Stock could then be converted, with full voting rights and powers equal to the voting
rights and powers of the holders of Common Stock.

Liguidation Preference. The holders of Series A-1 Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive
prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets of the Corporation to the holders
of Common Stock or any other security ranking junior in priority to the Preferred Stock by reason
of their ownership thereof, an amount for each share of Series A-1 Preferred Stock then held by
them equal to the Original Purchase Price for such Series A-1 Preferred Stock, plus an amount
equal to any declared but unpaid dividends.

Conversion. The Series A Preferred has the right to convert 1 to 1 into a share of common

Dividends. Although eligible for dividends, there are currently no dividends declared.

Participation Rights. In the case of a liquidity event, once the preference has been paid, the Series
A-1 can participate in the amount to be distributed to the common as if the shares were
converted into 1 share of common for every 2 shares of preferred owned. The holders do not have
to convert to receive the participation portion.

Series A-2 Preferred Stock



The amount of security authorized is 500,000 with a total of 0 outstanding.
Voting Rights

One vote for each share of Common Stock into which such holder’s shares of Preferred Stock can
be converted. See Other Material Rights below.

Material Rights

For further information on the material rights of this class of securities, please see the Company's
Sth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, attached to the Offering Memorandum
as Exhibit F.

General Voting Rights. The holder of each share of each class of the Preferred Stock shall have
the right to one (1) vote for each share of Common Stock into which such holder's shares of
Preferred Stock could then be converted, with full voting rights and powers equal to the voting
rights and powers of the holders of Common Stock.

Liquidation Preference. The holders of Series A-2 Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive
prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets of the Corporation to the holders
of Common Stock or any other security ranking junior in priority to the Preferred Stock by reason
of their ownership thereof, an amount for each share of Series A-2 Preferred Stock then held by
them equal to the Original Purchase Price for such Series A-2 Preferred Stock, plus an amount
equal to any declared but unpaid dividends.

Conversion. The Series A Preferred has the right to convert 1 to 1 in to a share of common

Dividends. Although eligilble for dividends, there are currently no dividends declared.

Participation Rights.In the case of a liquidity event, once the preference has been paid, the Series
A-1 can participate in the amount to be distributed to the common as if the shares were
converted into 1 share of common for every 2 shares of preferred owned. The holders do not have
to convert to receive the participation portion.

Convertible Note

The security will convert into Series a-2 preferred stock and the terms of the Convertible Note are
outlined below:

Amount outstanding: $250,000.00

Maturity Date: June 30, 2025

Interest Rate: 14.75%

Discount Rate: 0.0%

Valuation Cap: None

Conversion Trigger: Successful Reg CF Raise and/or maturity - see Other Material Rights below

Material Rights
No interest if converted by September 30, 2023

Notes will convert into the next successful equity raise at the ratio of the most favorable stock
issued (i.e., for the Reg CF, including all perks and bonus shares).

MNotes will not convert into an offering if less than $100,000 is raised.

MNotes will not represent more than 50% of the offering (i.e., the raise needs to be greater than



$250,000 for the entire amount to be converted).

A warrant to buy 200 shares of Common Stock at $0.01 for every $1,000 invested will be issued
(i.e., 50,000 were issued for the $250,000 value of notes).

What it means to be a minority holder

As a minority holder of Series A-2 Preferred of the company, you will have limited rights in
regards to the corporate actions of the company, including additional issuances of securities,
company repurchases of securities, a sale of the company or its significant assets, or company
transactions with related parties. Further, investors in this offering may have rights less than
those of other investors, and will have limited influence on the corporate actions of the company.

Dilution

Investors should understand the potential for dilution. The investor’s stake in a company could
be diluted due to the company issuing additional shares. In other words, when the company
issues more shares, the percentage of the company that you own will go down, even though the
value of the company may go up. You will own a smaller piece of a larger company. This increase
in number of shares outstanding could result from a stock offering (such as an initial public
offering, another crowdfunding round, a venture capital round, angel investment), employees
exercising stock options, or by conversion of certain instruments (e.g. convertible bonds,
preferred shares or warrants) into stock. If the company decides to issue more shares, an investor
could experience value dilution, with each share being worth less than before, and control
dilution, with the total percentage an investor owns being less than before, There may also be
earnings dilution, with a reduction in the amount earned per share (though this typically occurs
only if the company offers dividends, and most early stage companies are unlikely to offer
dividends, preferring to invest any earnings into the company).

Transferability of securities

For a year, the securities can only be resold:
® InanlPO;
e To the company;
® To an accredited investor; and

* To a member of the family of the purchaser or the equivalent, to a trust controlled by the
purchaser, to a trust created for the benefit of a member of the family of the purchaser or
the equivalent, or in connection with the death or divorce of the purchaser or other similar
circumstance.

Recent Offerings of Securities
We have made the following issuances of securities within the last three years:

e Type of security sold: Convertible Note
Final amount sold: $250,000.00
Use of proceeds: General Corporate Purposes
Date: March 30, 2023
Offering exemption relied upon: 506(b)



Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Financial Condition

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of
our operations together with our financial statements and related notes appearing at the end of
this Offering Memorandum, This discussion contains forward-looking statements reflecting our
current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the timing of events
may differ materially from those contained in these forward-looking statements due to a number
of factors, including those discussed in the section entitled "Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this
Offering Memorandum.

Results of Operations

Circumstances which led to the performance of financial statements:
Year ended December 31, 2022 compared to vear ended December 31, 2021

Revenue for fiscal yvear 2022 was $10.99 million, an increase of almost 18% versus fiscal vear 2021
revenue of $9.35 million. The company has posted 20 quarters of sequential revenue growth, with
the growth from 2018 to 2021 just under 40% a vear.

In 2022, WorthPoint successfully increased its prices, resulting in an increase of the average
revenue per user (ARPU) of its core billing platform customers of almost 12%. The Gross Billings
of this group increased by almost 5% as the intentional focus on providing longer-term, business
subscribers resulted in a 6% decline in subscribers. This focus also saw the number of annual
subscribers grow slightly, with annual subscribers now 20% of overall subscribers. The Company
is in the early stages of this shift to longer-termed subscribers with higher renewal rates.
Furthermore, we are focused on the homeowner interested in the preservation of the history and
financial value of their assets. This subscriber is also a longer-term and more lifetime value
subscriber.

Cost of sales

The cost of goods sold in 2022 was $2.04 million, an increase of approximately $ 376,000 from the
cost of sales in the fiscal year 2021. The increase was largely due to greater processing and credit
card fees as revenue increased, as well as higher hosting costs due to the amount of auction data
added to the site in 2022,

Gross margins

2022 gross profit increased by $51.19 million over 2021 gross profit and gross margins as a
percentage of revenues stayed flat from 82% in 2021 to 81% in 2022.

Expenses

The Company’s expenses consist of, among other things, compensation and benefits, marketing
and sales expenses, content, app development, and miscellaneous operating expenses. Expenses
in 2022 increased by $4.05 million from 2021. Approximately $2.73 million of this increase was
due to increased research and development costs, as well as total marketing expenses. In
addition, interest expenses increased due to the loan facility that was obtained in June 2021.

Historical results and cash flows:

The Company is currently in a growth stage and plans to return to break even during 2H:2025.



Management is of the opinion the historical cash flows over the past two years will not be
indicative of the revenue and cash flows expected for the future. The Company has been cash
flow positive in the past and made the conscious decision to move into a negative cash flow burn
over the past two years in order to develop the next generation of its products and expand its
marking efforts past being dependent on SEO and payv per click (PPC) advertising.

The Company has already reduced monthly cash burn from over $500k per month in early 2022
and anticipates cash flow covering all expenses except interest (cash interest is around $90,000
per month) in Q3. With the Company poised to see a return on its investments by launching new
products and a management team committed to stringent cost control, the goal of breakeven at
some point in the second half of 2023 is obtainable. At this point, the Company should generate
cash on a monthly basis as it exits 2023.

The Company’s primary source of revenue is nearly 35,000 subscribers who we automatically bill
monthly or annually, with a small number billed quarterly.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

What capital resources are currently available to the Company? (Cash on hand, existing lines of
credit, shareholder loans, etc...)

As of May 2023, the Company had capital resources available in the form of over $350,000 cash
on hand. This cash includes a shareholder loan from the founder that was made during March
and will, under certain circumstances, be converted into equity at the same terms as offered in
the Reg CF. The Company believes that this cash is sufficient to fund its operational needs in
2023 forward.

Going forward, the major outgoing deviation of cash to our model will be payments that the bank
(Espresso Capital) is demanding per their contractual rights. We continue to work with the lender
to amend the loan terms to cure any defaults under the loan agreement. In addition to the
regular monthly cash interest payments, the bank has demanded that we pay any amounts over
our lending base, pay the default rate of interest in cash versus having it accrue, and raise 53
million of additional capital by the end of September (includes the Reg CF offering). We are
pursuing four avenues to address the bank’s requests — working with the bank to obtain a
payment schedule that is achievable, additional shareholder loans, the Reg CF offering and
engaging an investment banker. We are close to amending our agreement with the lender but it is
not finalized.

The Company has made additional cuts in the operational expenses that will help to offset some
of these cash demands going forward. With the cost cuts and successfully addressing the bank’s
needs through one or more of the financing alternatives, the company will be operational for the
foreseeable future. We continue to expect the second half of the year to generate cash from
operations.

Although we would ultimately deem $3 million as a successful raise, a raise of $500,000 above the
existing shareholder loan would be sufficient for our short-term payment needs.

How do the funds of this campaign factor into your financial resources? (Are these funds critical
to your company operations? Or do you have other funds or capital resources available?)

Although we believe the funds of this campaign are not critical to our company’s ongoing
operations, a successful Reg CF raise is part of the solution to meeting our anticipated amended
agreement with our lender.



In addition, the success of this funding would allow the Company to accelerate the rollout and
marketing of its new products. Among the new features and products are:

The WorthPoint Vault: A catered product for the homeowner that will focus on preserving
memories as well as the financial aspect of assets in the home.

WorthPoint Indices: A market index that will track pricing trends and fluctuations of particular
categories of fine art, antiques, and collectibles, used to help resellers, buyers, and consumer
industries make more vital business decisions.

Are the funds from this campaign necessary to the viability of the company? (Of the total funds
that your company has, how much of that will be made up of funds raised from the crowdfunding
campaign?)

We believe the funds from this campaign are not necessary for the viability of the Company.
Currently, the Company has not contemplated additional future sources of Capital. Although we
receive calls with interest in investing, we are currently referring all potential investors to the
Reg CF offering.

How long will you be able to operate the company if you raise your minimum? What expenses is
this estimate based on?

Given the Company’s continued operation is NOT dependent on this raise, should we raise the
maximum amount, we would continue to operate for the foreseeable future.

How long will you be able to operate the company if you raise your maximum funding goal?

Given the Company’s continued operation is NOT dependent on this raise, should we raise the
maximum amount, we would continue to operate for the foreseeable future.

Are there any additional future sources of capital available to your company? (Required capital
contributions, lines of credit, contemplated future capital raises, etc...)

We have additional availability under our credit facility but believe cash on hand is sufficient to
sustain current operations so that additional draws will not be needed to fund operations.

Indebtedness

® Creditor: Espresso Captial
Amount Owed: $7,653,111.00
Interest Rate: 15.75%
Maturity Date: June 30, 2025
The total facility is for up to $12 million. Availability is based on a multiple of Revenue. The
facility has a net working capital (NWC) covenant that has two components. One
component is to have $750,000 of NWC as defined by the agreement. The other is to have a
ratio of 1 for NWC to the absolute value of cash flow as defined by the terms of the
agreement. Please see the risk factor discussing this facility.

e Creditor: William H Seippel



Amount Owed: $250,000.00

Interest Rate: 19.75%

Maturity Date: June 30, 2025

The debt is convertible into stock of the next raise for the Company. The debt will not
convert until at least $100,000 is raised and will not represent more than 50% of the
offering, once converted. The Debt will be interest free until September 30, 2023.

Related Party Transactions

 Name of Entity: William H. Seippel
Relationship to Company: Officer
Nature / amount of interest in the transaction: In March 2023, the Company entered into a
convertible loan for $250,000. In addition, William was granted warrants to purchase 50,000
shares of common stock at $0.01.
Material Terms: The loan is convertible, under certain circumstances, to the next equity
offering of the Company.

Valuation

Pre-Money Valuation: $45,306,396.00
Valuation Details:

WorthPoint reviewed several factors in determining its pre-money valuation, including but not
limited to:

EBITDA Revenue Multiple

WorthPoint has a history of strong revenue generation with growth over the past several years. In
2020, gross revenues totalled $6,476,921; in 2021, they totaled $9,354,303; and in 2022, revenue
was 511,112,000.

We looked at a group of publicly traded and private companies to determine the overall valuation
of WorthPoint. The companies we used each had some or all the following characteristics:

- Growing revenue

- Recurring Revenue via subscription

- Provided data or media via the internet

- Debt in their capital structure

- Reinvesting cash back into the business rather than recognizing as profit

Upon looking at the group of comparable, public companies, it was determined that using a
multiple of revenue was the best method of valuing the Company. One method considered was
using a multiple of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA).
However, due to the list of comparable companies having a general focus on growth and
reinvestment of cash into growth, EBITDA multiples were not meaningful or overly inflated due
to lower EBITDA values. The same can be said for multiples of profit, if the companies were
profitable. As a result, the focus on growth over other financial measurements resulted in a
valuation based on revenue.

The current multiple of 4.1 was used and resulted in a total enterprise value of $45.306 million.

The Company identified a number of private market transactions of similar businesses over the



past 2 years that reflected an average multiple of 7.5 times revenue. Because this group of
transactions dates back to 2021 when the capital markets were much stronger, the Company did
not believe they represented an appropriate valuation measure. One transaction during 2023, was
the acquisition of estatesales.net by Auction.

Additionally, third-party sources for 2022 revenue multiples for the Company’s industry reflect a
higher multiple than 4.1.

(https.‘www.estatesales.net/) (https;aimgroup.com/2025/02/08 auction-technology-group-
acquires-u-s-estate-sales-

sites#:~text=Auctionf20Technology 5% 20Group e 20(ATG) %6 2C, net %6 20for 56 205 2440% 20million S5 20U 8.
(https:www.equidam.com/ebitda-mulitiples-trbe-industries/)

Conclusion

Based on the above, we believe the Company's valuation of $45,306,396 is accurate.
Disclosures

The Company set its valuation internally, without a formal third-party independent evaluation.

The pre-money valuation has been calculated based on all shares issued and outstanding. In
making this calculation, we have assumed: (i) all preferred stock is converted to common stock;
(ii) all outstanding options, warrants, and other securities with a right to acquire shares are
excluded from consideration; and (iii) any shares reserved for issuance under a stock plan are
excluded from consideration.

The pre-moneyv valuation does not take into account any convertible securities currently
outstanding. The Company currently has $250,000 in convertible notes outstanding. Please refer
to the Company Securities section of the Offering Memorandum for further details regarding
current outstanding convertible securities which may affect your ownership in the future.

Use of Proceeds

If we raise the Target Offering Amount of $15,000.00 we plan to use these proceeds as follows:

e StartEngine Platform Fees
5.5%

e StartEngine Premium Deferred Fee
94.,5%
StartEngine Premium Deferred Fee

If we raise the over allotment amount of $4,999,992.00, we plan to use these proceeds as follows:

e StartEngine Platform Fees
5.5%

e Research & Development
50.0%
We will use 50% of the funds raised for market and customer research, new product
development, and market testing.

o Company Emplovment
25.0%
We will use 25% of the funds to hire key personnel for daily operations, including the



following roles: Office Administration, Sales and Marketing, Customer service, IT. Wages to
be commensurate with training, experience and position.

& Working Capital
19.5%
We will use 19.5% of the funds for working capital to cover expenses for the ongoing day-
to-day operations of the Company.

The Company may change the intended use of proceeds if our officers believe it is in the best
interests of the company.

Regulatory Information

Disqualification
No disqualifying event has been recorded in respect to the company or its officers or directors.

Compliance Failure

The company has not previously failed to comply with the requirements of Regulation
Crowdfunding.

Ongoing Reporting

The Company will file a report electronically with the SEC annually and post the report on its
website no later than April 29 (120 days after Fiscal Year End). Once posted, the annual report
may be found on the Company’s website at https:/www.worthpoint.com/
(http://www.worthpoint.com/investors).

The Company must continue to comply with the ongoing reporting requirements until:
(1) it is required to file reports under Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act;

(2) it has filed at least one (1) annual report pursuant to Regulation Crowdfunding and has fewer
than three hundred (300) holders of record and has total assets that do not exceed $10,000,000;

(3) it has filed at least three (3) annual reports pursuant to Regulation Crowdfunding;

(4) it or another party repurchases all of the securities issued in reliance on Section 4(a)(6) of the
Securities Act, including any payment in full of debt securities or any complete redemption of
redeemable securities; or

(5) it liquidates or dissolves its business in accordance with state law.

Updates

Updates on the status of this Offering may be found at: www.startengine.com/worthpoint

Investing Process

See Exhibit E to the Offering Statement of which this Offering Memorandum forms a part.



EXHIBIT B TO FORM C

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT'S REVIEW FOR WorthPoint
Corporation

[See attached]



WORTHPOINT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2022 and 2021

Together with
Independent Auditors’ Report



WorthPoint Corporation
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Pages
Independent Auditors™ Report 1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 4

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders”™ Equity for the vears ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the vears ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 6

MNotes to the Consohidated Financial Statements 7



dbbmickennon

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Firm - Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS® REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Waorthpoint Corporation

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Worthpoint Corporation and
subsidiaries (collectively the “Company™), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December
31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders™ equity, and cash
flows for the years then ended. and the related notes to the consohdated financial statements.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for the vears then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the
Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Substantial Doubt About the Company's Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a
going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company incurred net losses and
used cash in operations during the prior two vears and was in default of a loan covenant subsequent to
December 31, 2022, and has stated that substantial doubt exists about the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern. Management's evaluation of the events and conditions and management's plans regarding
these matters are also described in Note 1. The accompanying financial statements do not include any
adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified with respect
to this matter.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation. and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern within one vear after the date that the consolidated financial statements are
available to be 1ssued.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 1ssue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 1s a high level of assurance but 15 not absolute assurance
and therefore 1s not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material



misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of iInternal control.
Misstatements, including omissions, are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the
consolidated financial statements,

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:
e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e [dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements,

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
eftectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed,

e [Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements,

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters
that we identified during the audit.

Aéém&é erqou

Newport Beach, California
May 1, 2023

20321 SW Birch Street, Suite 200 MNewport Beach, California 92660-1756 P: 949.200.3280 F: 949.200.3281 www.dbbmckennon.com
santa Monica Newport Beach san Diego



WORTHPOINT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021

2022 2021
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents h 1,183,681 h] 3,051,032
Accounts receivable, net 151,202 81,128
Other current assets 162,769 179,083
Total current assets 1,497 652 3,311,245
Property and equipment, net 150,021 65,041
Intangible assets, net 4 277,002 4012622
Right of use asset 2,226,531 -
Other assets 5.749 3.620
Total assets b 8156955 5 71.392.528
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Current habilities:
Accounts payable $ 653,896 $ T05,874
Accrued liabilities 101,298 266856
Deferred revenue 1,235437 1,091,441
Right of use liability, current 355495 -
Related party advances 75,630 22,162
Note payable - current - 4,736
Total current liabilities 2.421.756 2.091.,069
Right of use liability 1,900 467 -
MNote payable - long term, net of discount 6,782,793 4,134,351
Accrued interest 282,236 57.233
Total liabilities 11,387,252 6,282,653
Commitments and contingencies (Note 6) - -
Stockholders' Equity (deficit):
Preferred Series A, $0.001 par value 884 550 shares
authorized, 884,550 issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively 808,399 208,399
Preferred Series A-1. 30,001 par value 6,056,142
shares authorized, 5.477.392 1ssued and
outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively 16,345 923 16,345,923
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 13,100,000
shares authorized; 4,964,450 and 4,858 466
1ssued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively 4.964 4. 858
Additional paid-in capital 1,840,070 1,514,277
Accumulated deficit (22,229,653) (17,563,582)
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) {3,230,297) 1, 109875
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit) b 8. 156,955 5 7,392,528

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WORTHPOINT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021

Revenues

Cost of revenues
Gross profit

Operating Expenses:
CGeneral and adrmimstrative
Sales and marketing
Research and development

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Other expense (income):
Interest expense

(ain on sale of property and equipment
Total other expense

Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Basic and diluted loss per common share

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted

2022 2021
5 10,997,873 $ 9,354,303
2.044.450 1,668,008
8,953,423 T.686,295
6,139,296 5497985
4,313,962 2,663,261
1,984,613 902,649
12,437,571 9,063,895
(3,484 448) (1,377.600)
1,194,123 503,509
(12,500) -
1,181,623 503,509

(4.666,071) (1,881,109)

] (4.666.071) 3 (1.881.109)

5

(095) & (0.40)

4,909,323 4,662,489

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31, 2020
Stock-based compensation
Common stock issued for warrants exercised
Common stock issued for asset purchase
Common stock issued for settlement of

accounts payable

Corrective adjustment to shares
Met loss

December 31, 2021
Stock-based compensation
Common stock issued for compensation
Common stock issued for stock oplions exercise
Met loss

December 31, 2022

WORTHPOINT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021

Additional

Preferred Series A Preferred Series A-1 Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated  Total Stockholders'
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Eguity ( Deficit)
#E4.550 § BOR399 5504309 516345923 4507733 % 4,597 §1,203.662  S(15,682473) § 2,680,108
- - - - - - 118, 800 - | 15 RO
196,500 197 1. 768 - 1.905

- - - - LT RT4 T 149934 - | 50,002

- = - - 5,109 5 40,104 - 40,109

- - (26.917) (B, 750} () 9 - -

- - - - - - - (1,881,109) (1,881,109)
BE4.550 £ RO 399 3477392 5163450923 4 B53E 466 b 4,858 21514277 5(17563,582) § 109 RTS
- - - - - - 245399 - 245 1099

- - - - 62,234 62 40,188 - 40,250

- - - - 41,750 44 40206 - 40,250
- - - - - - - (4,666,071) i4,666,071)
BE4 550 § BOR 399 5477392 5 16,345923 4 964 450 b 4,964 1,840,070 $(22,220.653) % (3,230,297

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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WORTHPOINT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
used in operating activities:

Depreciation

Amortization

Gain on sale of property, plant & equipment

Amortization of debt discount

Provision for bad debt

Stock-based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Other current assets

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Deferred revenue

Accrued interest

Right of use liabilities, net

Met cash used 1n operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and equipment
Deposits and other
Purchase of intangible asseis
MNet cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from related party advances
Proceeds from note payable under credit facility
Offering costs
Repayments on related party note payable
Repayment of note payable
Proceeds from warrants exercised
Proceeds from stock options exercised

Met cash provided by financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of vear

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes

Non cash investing and financing activities:

Common stock issued for settlment of accounts payable

Intangible asset purchased with common stock

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

i

2022 2021
(4,6606071) S (1,881,109
51,598 2.570
733,122 B33.611
(12,500} -
248,442 128,119
1,665 11,765
285,649 118,800
(71,739} 14,479
16,316 (78.695)
(51,978) 347,033
(165,558) 298,261
143,996 308,553
225003 -
20431 -
(3,212,624) (94,613)
(124,078) (40,675)
(2,129} 8912
(1,017,502 (B90,168)
(1,143,709) (921,931)
53,468 1,050
2,400,000 5,000,000
- (993,768)
- (563.238)
(4,736) -
- 1,965
40,250 -
2 ARE 982 3,446,000
(1,867.351) 2429465
3.051,032 621,567
1LIR36R1 S 3.051.032
785193 % 318.157
- s
- g 40.109
- s 150,002




WORTHPOINT CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS

WorthPoint Corporation was incorporated on January 16, 2007 (“Inception™) in the State of Delaware. The
Company’s headquarters are located in Atlanta, Georgia. The Company has developed a suite of online
and mobile offerings consisting of a database for researching and valuing antiques, art and collectibles, a
detailed catalog of Maker's Marks and other identifving indicators, as well as access to a library of reference
books and price guides from leading publishers in a wide range of antiques and collecting categories. The
consolidated financial statements of WorthPoint Corporation and subsidiaries (which may be referred to as
“WP”, "WorthPoint," the "Company,” "we.,"” "us,” or "our”) are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP™).

Management Plans

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which
contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.
During the past two years, the Company has suffered net losses and used cash in operating activities. These
losses were part of a plan that involved using financial leverage to accelerate growth, which was being
realized until the change of economy late in Q1 2022, In 2023, the Company was in default of a loan
covenant (2021 Loan Facility — Note 10) which would allow our lender to call their debt; however,
Management does not expect the lender to take such action nor has the lender exercised this demand as of
the date of these financial statements were available to be 1ssued. In aggregate, these matters raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, In response, Management
has quickly reduced certain costs and contributed more capital to continue the optimization of the
Company’s products and services to support growth., Management believes that a substantial amount of
additional costs associated with growth activities could be immediately curtailed it it does not see the
growth expected over the next several months, restoring the company to profitability as a tradeoft, due to
the Company’s strong recurring revenue subscription model.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of WorthPoint Corporation and
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, WorthPoint (Ireland) Limited WPGA Holding Corp, and GoAntigues, Inc.
Significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation,

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management
to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the
reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could materially differ
from these estimates. Significant estimates include, but are not limited to, recoverability of property and
equipment and long-lived assets, valuation of stock options and warrants, and the valuation allowance
related to deferred tax assets. It is reasonably possible that changes in estimates will occur in the near term.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a hability
{an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants as of the measurement date. Applicable accounting guidance provides an
established hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs
and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when
available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability
and are developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable
inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the factors that market participants would
use in valuing the asset or liability. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:



WORTHPOINT CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Level | - Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities
in active markets,

Level 2 - Include other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the
use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value,

Fair-value estimates discussed herein are based upon certain market assumptions and pertinent information
available to management as of December 31, 2022 and 202 1. The respective carrying value of certain on-
balance-sheet financial instruments approximated their fair values. These financial imstruments include
cash, accounts receivable, accounts pavable, accrued habilities, and related party advances. Fair values for
these items were assumed to approximate carrying values because of their short-term nature or they are
payable on demand.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents,

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and are non-interest-bearing. Accounts receivable
primarily consists of subscription receivables and receivables related to display advertising services for
which payment terms are provided. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts to reserve
for potential uncollectible receivables. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $1.665 and $560 as

of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. The Company’s fixed assets are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful hife of three (3) to seven (7) years. Leasehold improvements are
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life or term of the lease. Maintenance and repairs are charged to
operations as incurred. Significant renewals and betterments are capitalized. At the time of retirement or
other disposition of property and equipment, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the
accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations.

Content Databases

Content databases consists of a database of historical records accessible to our paying customers for
researching valuing antiques, art and collectibles, a detailed catalog of Maker's Marks and other identifying
indicators, as well as access to a library of reference books and price guides from leading publishers that
the Company has accumulated in its databases. These records have been digitized to the extent they were
not originated in a digital format and indexed to allow subscribers to search and view the content online.

We capitalize payments made to third parties for data to be included in the content database that we expect
to recover through generation of revenue. For data license contracts, we capitalize costs to the extent we
believe that content purchased can be used, as modified, in perpetuity. We also include the costs to acquire
historical records and Company employees or by third parties to scan, key and index the content, or create
contextual mmformation for such data.  Capitalized costs are included in intangible assets in the
accompanying financial statements. Costs to create content for our website, unrelated to the searchable
database that 15 accessible without a subscription, are expensed as incurred. Costs to renew or extend the
term of licensed content databases are expensed as incurred.



WORTHPOINT CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The amortization period for the capitalized content is based on our best estimate of the useful life of the
asset, which is approximately ten vears after the content 1s acquired or costs 1s incurred. The determination
of the useful life includes consideration of a variety of factors including, but not limited to, our assessment
of the expected use of the asset, contractual provisions that may limit the useful life, as well as an assessment
of when the data is expected to become obsolete based on our estimates of the diminishing value of the data
over time. We evaluate the useful life of the capitalized purchased data content each reporting period to
determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining useful life, If we determine
the estimate of the asset’s useful life requires modification, the carrying amount of the asset is amortized
prospectively over the revised useful life. The capitalized data content 1s amortized on a straight-line basis
as the pattern of delivery of the economic benefits of the data cannot reliably be determined because we do
not have the ability to reliably predict future traffic to our mobile applications and websites.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The long-lived assets held and used by the Company are reviewed for impairment no less frequently than
annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that the cost of any long-hived assets
may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability 1s performed. There were no impairment losses during the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, There can be no assurance, however, that market conditions
will not change or demand for the Company’s products and services will continue, which could result in
impairment of long-lived assets in the future.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their respective estimated lives and reviewed for
impairment whenever events or other changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. The impairment testing compares carrying values to fair values and, when appropriate, the
carrying value of these assets is reduced to fair value. Impairment charges, if any, are recorded in the period
in which the impairment is determined. To date, there have been no impairment charges recognized.

Preferred Stock

ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, includes standards for how an issuer of equity (including
equity shares issued by consolidated entities) classifies and measures on its balance sheet certain financial
instruments with characteristics of both habilities and equity.

Management is required to determine the presentation for the preferred stock as a result of the conversion
provisions, among other provisions in the agreement, Specifically, management is required to determine
whether the embedded conversion feature in the preferred stock is clearly and closely related to the host
instrument, and whether the bifurcation of the conversion feature is required and whether the conversion
feature should be accounted for as a derivative instrument. If the host instrument and conversion feature
are determined to be clearly and closely related (both more akin to equity), derivative liability accounting
under ASC 8135, Derivatives and Hedging, is not required. Management determined that the host contract
of the preferred stock is more akin to equity, and accordingly, derivative liability accounting is not required
by the Company. Management determined that the host contract of the preferred stock 1s more akin to
equity, and accordingly, derivative liability accounting is not required by the Company. The Company has
presented preferred stock within stockholders' equity.

Costs incurred directly for the issuance of the preferred stock are recorded as a reduction of gross proceeds
received by the Company, resulting in a discount to the preferred stock. The discount is amortized to the
accumulated deficit, due to the absence of additional paid-in capital, over the period to redemption using
the effective interest method of accounting,
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Dividends which are required to be paid upon redemption are accrued and recorded within preferred stock
and accumulated deficit,

Net Loss per Share

The Company’s computation of earnings (loss) per share ("EPS”) includes basic and diluted EPS. Basic
EPS is measured as the income (loss) available to common shareholders divided by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is similar to basic EPS but presents the
dilutive effect on a per share basis of potential common shares (e.g., common stock warrants and common
stock options) as if they had been converted at the beginning of the periods presented, or issuance date, if
later. Potential common shares that have an anti-dilutive effect (i.e., those that increase income per share
or decrease loss per share) are excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS.

Loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of
commeon stock outstanding during the respective periods. Basic and diluted loss per common share 1s the
same for all periods presented because all common stock warrants and common stock options outstanding
were anti-dilutive.

Offering Costs

The Company accounts for offering costs in accordance with ASC 340, “Other Assets and Deterred Costs”.
Prior to the completion of an offering, offering costs were capitalized as deferred offering costs on the
balance sheet. The deferred offering costs are netted against the proceeds of the offering in stockholders’
equity (deficit) or the related debt, as applicable. Costs related to unsuccessful offerings are expensed.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue related to sales of subscriptions and display advertising in accordance
with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606 (“ASC 6067) — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

In applying the guidance of ASC 606, the Company 1) identifies the contract with the customer 2) identifies
the performance obligations in the contract 3) determines the transaction price, 4) determines if an
allocation of that transaction price is required to the performance obligations in the contract, and 5)
recognizes revenue when or as the companies satisfies a performance obligation,

Subscription revenues are derived by providing access to the Company’s technologies and content on its
websites. Subscription fees are collected primarily from credit cards at the beginning of the subscription
period. Subscription revenues are recognized ratably over the subscription period, ranging from one month
to one year, net of estimated cancellations. Subscription revenues are not allocated to any free-trial periods
the Company may offer. Amounts received from subscribers for which the performance obligations have
not been fulfilled are recorded in deferred revenue. As of December 31, 2022, and 2021, deferred revenue
recorded on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets related 100% to subscriptions. The following
1s a rollfowards of deferred revenue. All deferred revenue as of a year end, are recognized in the following
yedr.

2022 2021
Deferred revenue - beginning 5 1091441 $ T2 BEE
Additions 10,924,072 9,486,694
Revenue recognized (10.780,076) (9,178,141)
Deferred revenue - ending 5 1235437 $  1.091.44]
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The Company's display revenue is generated from the display of graphical, non-graphical, and video
advertisements on the Company's websites, The revenue is recorded when the impression is delivered.
Arrangements for these services generally have terms ranging from 30 to 60 days. Display revenue
represents less than 3% of the Company's total revenues.

The Company maintains an allowance for cancelations, which i1s primarily for customers who have failed
payment methods that go unresolved for approximately one month, based on historical trends and data
specific to each reporting period. The historical cancellation rates are applied to the current period’s
revenues as a basis for estimating future cancellations. Actual customer subscription cancellations are
charged against this allowance or against deferred revenue to the extent that revenue has not yet been
recognized.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of subscription revenues consists of amortization of content databases, web server operating costs,
credit card processing fees, outside service costs for website content not capitalized, and other ancillary
costs related to the content database,

Research and Development

The Company incurs research and development costs during the process of researching and developing
technologies and future offerings. Research and development costs consist primarily of internal salaries.
We expense these costs as incurred unless such costs qualify for capitalization under applicable guidance.

Saftware Capitalization

The Company generally expenses all development costs as incurred. When the resultant project is
determined to be a significant upgrade, the Company will capitalize the costs associated with that specific
project and amortize over three (3) years. The Company currently has no capitalized software costs.

Advertising
The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expenses were approximately $775,020

and $521,613 for the vears ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock awards issued under ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation.
Under ASC 718, stock-based compensation cost 1s measured at the grant date, based on the estimated fair
value of the award. Stock-based compensation is recognized as expense over the emplovee’s requisite
vesting period and over the nonemployee’s period of providing goods or services. The fair value of each
stock option or warrant award 1s estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation
model. Restricted shares are measured based on the fair market value of the underlying stock on the grant
date. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur,

Stock based compensation 1s included in the statements of operations as follows.

2022 2021
General and adminstrative $ 187,611 $ 80,381
Sales and marketing 77.405 36,888
Research and development 14,586 1,531
Costs of revenues 6,065

Total b 285,667 b 118,800
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Income Taxes

The Company applies ASC 740 Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax
consequences in future years of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
consohdated financial statement reported amounts at each period end, based on enacted tax laws and
statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income.
Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected
to be realized. The provision for income taxes represents the tax expense for the period, 1if any, and the
change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the
Company has established a full allowance against all deferred tax assets,

ASC 740 also provides criteria for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of uncertain
tax positions. A tax benefit from an uncertain position 1s recognized only if it is “more likely than not™ that
the position 1s sustainable upon examination by the relevant taxing authority based on its technical merit.
Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash with a major financial institution located in the United States of America
which it believes to be credit worthy, Balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
up to $250,000. At times, the Company maintains balances in excess of the federally insured limits.

The Company had one vendor that made up approximately 43% and 41% of accounts payable as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021. The loss of this vendor would not have a material impact on the Company’s
operations,

The Company purchases a majority of its content and data from one vendor. The Company 1s currently
implementing a strategy to minimize the reliance on this vendor but, during the transition, the loss of the
vendor could have a material impact on the Company's operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued Accounting Standards
Update ("ASU™) No, 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), specifying the accounting for leases, which supersedes
the leases requirements in Topic 840, Leases. The objective of Topic 842 is to establish the principles that
lessees and lessors shall apply to report useful information to users of consolidated financial statements
about the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from a lease. Lessees are permitted to make
an accounting policy election to not recognize the asset and liability for leases with a term of twelve months
or less. Lessors” accounting is largely unchanged from the previous accounting standard. In addition, Topic
842 expands the disclosure requirements of lease arrangements. Lessees and lessors may use a modified
retrospective transition approach, which includes several practical expedients. This guidance is effective
for fiscal yvears, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2021, with
carly adoption permitted. As a result, the Company was required to recognize its leases for office and
storage spaces on the balance sheet. Under ASC 842, the Company created a Right of Use Asset and a
corresponding Lease Liability in the amount of $2,565,159,

In December 2019, the FASB 1ssued guidance that simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing
certain exceptions in existing guidance and improves consistency in application by clarifying and amending
existing guidance. This guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022, and
interim periods within those annual periods, where the transition method varies depending upon the specific
amendment. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in any interim period. An entity that elects to
early adopt the amendments in an interim period should reflect any adjustments as of the beginning of the
annual period that includes that interim period, and all amendments must be adopted in the same period.
The Company has reviewed the provisions of the new standard, but it is not expected to have a significant
impact on the Company.
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The FASB issues ASUs to amend the authoritative literature in ASC. There have been a number of ASUs
to date, including those above, that amend the original text of ASC. Management believes that those 1ssued
to date either (1) provide supplemental guidance, (11) are technical corrections, (111) are not applicable to us
or (1v) are not expected to have a significant impact our consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 3 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31, 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021
Furniture and fixtures $ 07,939 h 1,805
Computer equipment 42,351 38,042
Office furniture 70,002 37,109
Software 27,500 24 646
Total property and equipment 237,882 101,602
Accumulated Depreciation (87,861) (36,561)

b 150,021 b 65,041

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was 551,598 and 52,570,
respectively.

NOTE 4 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets subject to amortization consisted of the following at December 31, 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021
Content databases $  B.079467 $  T7.080,534
Accumulated amortization (4,037, 983) (3,301,581)

$ 4,041,484 3,778,953

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 was $734,789 and $635,611,
respectively. Amortization will be approximately $734,000 each vear for the following five years with the
remaining amortized portion being amortized thereafier.

Intangible assets not subject to amortization consisted of antique libraries valued at $235,518 as of
December 31, 2022, and 2021.

NOTE 5 - DEBTS
2021 Loan Facility

In June 2021, the Company entered into an agreement (“2021 Loan Facility™) under which the Company
would be able to borrow up to $12.0 million. The amount available is based on a multiple of trailing
revenue. The 2021 Loan Facility required a minimum of $5.0 million to be outstanding, which was the
amount of the initial draw. Each draw is represented by a separate note payable. The 2021 Loan Facility
includes a monthly cash interest rate and a deferred interest rate. Through December 31, 2022, the cash
rate 1s equal to the three-month LIBOR., or the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR™), the alternative
to LIBOR, plus 10.56% per annum (see following paragraph). The minimum cash rate 1s 12.95% and the
maximum rate is 13.75% for the first three yvears and 14.74% for the fourth vear. The deferred rate is the
per annum rate of 2.2%, calculated daily and compounded monthly. The 2021 Loan Facility matures on
June 30, 2025 at which time all principal and deferred interest is due. As of December 31, 2022 of these
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financial statements, the Company believes it is in compliance with the net working capital covenant
defined by the loan facility. Funds from the 2021 Loan facility were used to repay 2020 Term Loan and
will be used for operating growth capital. As of December 31, 2022, the cash rate was 13.75% and the total
available under the facility was approximately $4.3 million. With the addition of the deferred rate to the
principal, the outstanding balance was approximately 57.68 million as of December 31, 2022, which
includes approximately $282.000 of accrued interest.

In connection with the initial $5.0 million draw, the Company incurred offering costs of $993,768 which
were applied as a discount to the note payable. As of December 31, 2022, the Company amortized
$376,561. The remaining discount of §617.207 will be amortized through the maturity date of the 2021
Loan facility on a straight-line basis. In 2022, the Company borrowed an additional $2.4 million bringing
the total principal under the note payable to $7.4 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized stated interest expense of $1,193,486
of which all amount was paid other than approximately $282,000 in deferred accrued interest and $248,442

related to the amortization of debt discount.

Effective January 1, 2023, the base rate will transition from three-month LIBOR to the 30-day average
SOFR, published daily by the Federal Reserve. As a result, the margin spread has been adjusted in
accordance with the 2021 Loan Facility agreement. As a result, the margin spread has been adjusted such
that the total interest rate on January 1, 2023, calculated using the 30-day average SOFR rate is substantially
the same as if it were calculated on such date using the three-month LIBOR.

Aggregate future annual minimum principal payments for the remaining notes payable is as follows as of

December 31, 2022

2023 -
2024 -
2025 7.400,000
7,400,000

Less: current portion -

% 7,400,000

Interest expense recognized for the vears ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $1,193,146 and
$503.509, respectively.

NOTE 6 —- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Leases

The Company has active operating lease arrangements for the Company’s office and storage space. The
Company 15 typically required to make fixed minimum monthly rent payments relating to its right to use
the underlying leased asset. In accordance with the adoption of ASC 842, the Company recorded right-of-
use assets and related lease liabilities for these leases as of January 1, 2022,

The Company has lease agreements which contain both lease and non-lease components, which it has
elected to account for as a single lease component when the payments are fixed. As such, vanable lease
payments not dependent on an index or rate, such as real estate taxes, common area maintenance, and other
costs that are subject to fluctuation from period to period are not included in lease measurement. The
Company includes extensions in the determination of the lease term when it 1s reasonably certain that such
options will be exercised.
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The Company’s lease agreements do not provide an implicit borrowing rate. Therefore, the Company used
the practical expedient available to private companies, which is the use of a risk-free rate with a term that
is consistent with the term of the lease.

On December 2, 20135, the Company entered into a lease agreement for its corporate office in Atlanta, GA. The
lease 1s for 63 months with lease payments ranging from $8.912 to $10,332. The lease commenced January 1,
2016 and the Company received three months of free rent for the first three months of occupancy. On
December 2, 2019, the Company signed an amendment to the lease agreement, extending the lease for 635
months starting on April 1, 2021, The lease payvments ranged from $10,305 to $11,800 and the Company
received four months of free rent starting April, 1, 2021. On August 27, 2021, the Company signed a second
amendment to the lease for 88 months to expand the office space available to the Company. The second
amendment commenced on February 3, 2022, and succeeded those terms set during the first amendment. The
lease payments range from $25.305 to 530,597. The lease contamed allowances for certain tenant
improvements which required the Company pay certain costs, which were reimbursed by the landlord.

The Company has also entered into a lease agreement in December 2015 for offsite storage in Atlanta, GA.
The Company extended the lease for 36 months in March 2019, with lease payments from $1,770 to $1,879.
The Company extended the lease again for 36 months in March 2022, with lease payments from $1.950 to
$2,190,

The weighted-average remaining lease term for operating leases was 6.2 years and the weighted-average
incremental borrowing rate was 1.7% as of December 31, 2022,

The following table summarizes the Company's future minimum commitment under lease agreements as of:

Years Ending December 31:

2023 386,681

2024 IBE, 723

2025 366,098

2026 349,367

2027 358,974

Thereafter 520,148

Total mmimum lease payments 2,369,991

Less: imputed interest (114.029)

Total 2,255,962

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $392,925 and $166.577, respectively.

License and Service Agreement

The Company has entered into an agreement for the hcensure of content with a third-party in 2018, Under the
agreement, the Company was required to pay annual licensing fees of approximately $717,000 in both 2022
and 2021. Fees are invoiced monthly on a pro-rata basis. The term of the contract 1s for an initial four years
with automatic extensions annually for six years, under the same terms, unless cancelled by either party,

Legal

From time-to-time, we may become involved in litigation relating to claims arising from our ordinary course
of business, the resolution of which we do not anticipate would have a material adverse impact on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.
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NOTE 7-5TOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred Stock
The Company has authorized the issuance of 6,940,692 shares of preferred stock, cach share having a par
value of $0.001. Of these shares, 884,550 have been designated Series A Preferred “Series A” and 6,056,142

have been designated Series A-1 Preferred “Series A-1."

Series A

The Series A-1 have liquidation and redemption priority over the Series A. The Series A has liquidation priority
over common stock. The liquidation value of Series A as of December 31, 2022 was $804,941. The Series A
votes on an as converted basis. The Series A 1s convertible by the holder at any time after 1ssuance on a one-
to-one basis for common stock. The Series A is automatically converted into common stock upon an effective
registration statement, listing upon the AIM market on the London Stock Exchange or the date to which the
majority of the Series A holders vote to convert. In addition, the Series A has various anti-dilution provisions
which take into account future sales and issuances of common stock and other dilutive instruments.

Series A-1

The Series A-1 have liquidation and redemption priority over the Seres A and common stock. The Sernies A-1
votes on an as converted basis. The liquidation value of Series A-1 as of December 31, 2022 was $19,170,872
The Series A-1 1s convertible by the holder at any time after issuance on a one-to-one basis for common stock.
The Series A-1 1s automatically converted into common stock upon an effective registration statement, listing
upon the AIM market on the London Stock Exchange or the date to which the majority of the Series A-1 holders
vote to convert. In addition, the Series A-1 has various anti-dilution provisions which take into account future
sales and issuances of common stock and other dilutive instruments.

Common Stock
The Company has authorized the i1ssuance of 13,100,000 shares of common stock, each share having a par

value of $0.001,
See Note 8 for shares issued to a related party for intangible assets,

Restricted Common Stock

From time-to-time, the Company grants restricted common stock to various employees or contractors.
Shares are issued but subject to vesting, typically at a rate of 25% per year for 4 years. The chart below
reflects the restricted common stock that has been i1ssued and is vested (or remains unvested) by year:

Monvested at December 31, 2020 T82.521
Granted -
WVested (273,427)
Forfeited -
Nonvested at December 31, 2021 509,094
Granted -
Vested (273,427)
Forfeited -
Nonvested at December 31, 2022 235,667

Stock-based compensation related to restricted common stock issuances totaled 546,715 and 547,419 in
2022 and 2021, respectively, which was charged to general and administrative expenses. Restricted
common stock 1ssuances are valued based on the grant date fair value of common stock. Remaining stock-
based compensation to be recognized on restricted shares is approximately $66,902 over approximately 1.5
years.
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Shares Issued from Prior Granis

In a prior vear, the Company granted the Company’s Chief Executive officer restricted stock units for
62,234 shares; however, such were never 1ssued after vesting was complete. It was determined that due to
the number of vears that had passed since the original grant, the 1ssuance should be treated as a new stock
grant for accounting purposes. Accordingly, the Company issued 62,234 shares of common stock and
recognized $40.250 based on the estimated fair value of the underlying common stock.

Stock Options

During 2019, the Company adopted the WorthPoint Corporation 2019 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2019
Plan™). The 2019 Plan provides for the grant of equity awards to employees and consultants, including
non-qualified stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units. Up to 1,100,000 shares, plus such
number of additional shares as may be necessary due to anti-dilution provisions the 2019 Plan, of the
Company’s common stock are set aside and reserved for 1ssuance. In November 2021, the number of shares
available under the plan was increased to 1,350,000 shares. In October 2022, the number of shares available
under the plan was increased to 2,000,000, The Plan expires 10 years from adoption.

During 2022, the Company issued options to purchase up to 617,749 shares of Common Stock. The 2022
option grants vest over a four-year period, have a strike price ranging from 50.12 to $10.14, a weighted
average grant date fair value of 51,91, and an aggregate grant date fair value totaling $168,020.

In 2021, the Company granted stock Options to purchase 102,250 shares of common stock to certain
employees. The shares vest at the rate ot 25% per year over 4 years, have a strike price ranging from $2.20
to 8.35, a weighted average grant date fair value of $3.73, and an aggregate grant date fair value totaling
approximately 381,400,

On June 23, 2022, two options were exercised by a Board member to purchase a total of 43,750 shares with
a strike price of $0.92 per share.

For 2022 and 2021, the fair value of each stock option granted was estimated using the Black-Scholes
assumption ranges and or factors as follows:

2022 2021
Exercise price S 012-10.14 5 2.20-8.34
Expected dividend yield 0 % 0 %
Risk free interest rate 2.40-4.09 % (.65 - 0.90 %
Expected life n years (.25 6.25
Expected volatility 50 % 50 %

The risk-tree interest rate assumption for options granted 1s based upon observed interest rates on the United
States government securities appropriate for the expected term of stock options.

The expected term of stock options 1s calculated using the simplified method which takes into consideration
the contractual life and vesting terms of the options.

The Company determined the expected volatility assumption for options granted using the historical
volatility of comparable public companies’ common stock. The Company will continue to monitor peer
companies and other relevant factors used to measure expected volatility for future stock option grants.

The dividend vield assumption for options granted is based on the Company’s history and expectation of

dividend payouts. The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock, and
the Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future,

17



WORTHPOINT CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management estimated the fair value of common stock by looking at a market approach which takes into
consideration past sales ol stock to third parties and Company developments to date compared to market
conditions, as well as an income approach which looks at future cash flows of the business.

The Company recognizes stock option forfeitures as they occur as there 15 insufficient historical data to
accurately determine future forfeitures rates.

A summary of the Company’s stock options activity and related information is as follows:

Weighted average

Weighted Average Remaining

Number of Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 1049358 % 1.11 2.8
Granted 102,250 805 10,00
Exercised - - -
Expred/Cancelled ( 10,000) 4.53 4.0
Outstandng at December 31, 2021 1141608 8 1.70 2.6
Granted 617,749 1.91 10.00
Exercied (43.750) 0.92 -
Expred/Cancelled (691,763) 1.24 -
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1023844 % 2.14 7.8
Exercisable at December 31, 2021 033,983 h) 1.04 1.5
Exercisable at December 31, 2022 34462 % 1.89 4.5

During the vears ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, stock option compensation was $198,684, and
$71,381, respectively. Remaining stock-based compensation to be recognized is approximately $325,025
which will be recognized over approximately 3.8 years.

Warranis

During 2022 and 2021, warrants to purchase (0 and 196,500 shares of common stock were exercised for
total proceeds of $0 and $1,965, respectively. The following is a table of warrant activity during the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Weighted Average
Number of  Weighted Average Remaming

Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 601,660 5 0,01 5.9
Granted - - -
Exercised (196,500) - -
Expired/Cancelled - - -

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 405,160 & (.01 5.9
Granted - - -
Exercised - - -
Expired/Cancelled - - -

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 405,160 5 0.01 4.9

18



WORTHPOINT CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related Party Advances and Loan

From time to time, the Company receives or repays advances from related parties for short-term working
capital, At December 31, 2022 and 2021, amounts outstanding under related party advances totaled 573,630
and %$22,162, respectively, and are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Such
advances are considered short-term, non-interest bearing and are due on demand.

In June 2020, the Company entered into a loan with a related party, which was fully repaid in 2021, see
MNote 3.

Related Party Asset Purchase
In 2021, the Company issued 67,874 shares of common stock, valued at $150,002, for the purchase of
certain intangible assets from a related party.

NOTE 9 - INCOME TAXES

On March 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act
(“CARES Act”). The Cares Act includes provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits, deferment of
the employer portion of certain payroll taxes, net operating loss carryback periods, alternative minimum
tax credit refunds, modifications to the net interest deduction limitations and technical corrections 1o tax
depreciation methods for qualified improvement property. The CARES Act also established a Paycheck
Protection Program whereby certain small businesses are eligible for a loan to fund payroll expenses, rent,
and related costs.

The Company considered the provisions under the CARES Act and elected not to take advantage of the
provisions of CARES Act, except for the Paycheck Protection Program (Note 5).

A reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) computed at the statutory federal income tax rate to income
taxes as reflected in the financial statements is as follows:

The following table presents the current and deferred tax provision for federal and state income taxes for
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Income taxes (benefit) consisted of the following: 2022 2021
Current

Federal Y - $

State - -
Deferred

Federal (368,000) 382,000

State 115,000 72,000
Total (253,000) 454,000
Valuation allowance 253,000 (454,000)

Total provision for income taxes 5 - $ -

19



WORTHPOINT CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The components of deferred tax assets (liabilities) for federal and state income taxes consisted of the
following as of December 31;

2022 2021
Current:
Accrued liabilities
Accruals and other 218,000 148,000
Noncurrent:
Net Operating loss carrviorwards 5,005,000 5,845,000
Intangible assets and startup costs (239,000) (239,000)
Other 103,000 32,000
R& D Capitalization 446,000 -
Valuation allowance (5,533,000) (5. 786,000)

Net deferred tax asset -

The Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon its ability to realize its
deferred tax assets, which are comprised primarily of net operating loss carryforwards, Management has
considered the Company’s history of net income and losses in the United States, estimated future taxable
income and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies and has concluded that it is more likely than not
that the Company will not realize the benetits of its U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets. Accordingly,
a full valuation allowance has been established against these net deferred tax assets as of December 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company reevaluates the positive and negative evidence at each reporting
period. The Company’s valuation allowance increased during 2022 by approximately 253,000 primarily
due to additions of net operating loss carryforwards and temporary differences for research and
development, net of the expiration of historical net operating loss carryforwards.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had U_S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$21.9 million, which may be available to offset future income tax liabilities. The 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act (* TCIA™) will generally allow losses incurred after 2017 to be carried over indefinitely, but will
generally limit the net operating loss deduction to the lesser of the net operating loss carryover or 80% of a
corporation’s taxable income (subject to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended).
Also, there will be no carryback for losses incurred after 2017, Losses incurred prior to 201 will generally
be deductible to the extent of the lesser of a corporation’s net operating loss carryover or 100% of a
corporation’s taxable income and be available for twenty yvears from the period the loss was generated. The
federal net operating losses generated prior to 2018 will expire at various dates through 2037,

As of December 31, 2022, the Company also had U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $10.3 million, which may be available to offset future income tax liabilities and expire at
various dates through 2037 for losses prior to 2017.

Utilization of the U.S. federal and state net operating loss and research and development credit
carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation under Section 382 and Section 383 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and corresponding provisions of state law, due to ownership
changes that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future. These ownership changes may limit
the amount of net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards that can be utilized
annually to offset future taxable income and tax habilities, respectively. The Company has not completed
a study to assess whether a change of ownership has occurred, or whether there have been multiple
ownership changes since its formation. Any limitation may result in expiration of a portion of the net
operating loss carryforwards or research and development tax credit carryforwards before utilization.
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The Company files tax returns in the United States and various states in which it has nexus. The Company
15 subject to ULS, lederal and state tax examinations by tax authorities for years 2019 through present. As
of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has recorded no liability for unrecognized tax benefits,
interest, or penalties related to federal and state income tax matters and there currently no pending tax
examinations. The Company will recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in
income tax expense. The Company currently is not under examination by any tax authority.

NOTE 10 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2023, the Company granted stock Options to purchase 219,500 shares of common stock to
certain employees. The shares vest at the rate of 25% per vear over 4 yvears. In addition, in January 2023,
the Board extended an offer to all non-Board members and employees with options having a strike price
over $8.00 the opportunity to forfeit their options in exchange for taking an option for half as many shares
at a lower strike price of 50,12 per share. As a result of this offer, the number of shares issuable via options
15 53,875 shares. The options that were forfeited had a weighted strike price of approximately $9.48 per
share.

In March 2023, the Company entered into a convertible loa